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In addition, they involve the interplay of state and federal jurisdic-
tion,7 an asserted exemption on the ground of government agency,8

the insurance business exemption under the McCarran-Ferguson
Act,9 the prospective-retrospective application of a general release
as to private antitrust actions, 0 the phrase "transacts business" for
venue purposes under section 12 of the Clayton Act," an effort to
set aside an FTC cease and desist order,'" the jurisdictional question
of lack of interstate commerce,' 3 the requirements for granting a
temporary injunction," the measure of damages in private antitrust
actions, 5 and the propriety of the trial court's advising the jury of
the treble damages and attorney's fees provisions of the Clayton
Act."

Each of these is an important case, but Terrell v. Household
Goods Carriers' Bureau'7 and Pollock & Riley, Inc. v. Pearl Brewing
Co. 'I probably have more general application than any of the others.
Terrell, among other things, provides an extensive discussion of the
applicable measure of damages in a private antitrust action. Pollock
& Riley (and Wood v. Gulf Oil Corp.) involve the question of
whether the trial court "should advise the jury in a civil antitrust
suit of the provision tripling the awarded damages and allowing
attorneys' fees and costs;"1 both are landmark cases.

Survey

As one reviews the Fifth Circuit antitrust cases for this past
term, an attempt should be made to discern a general attitude or
philosophy on the part of the court toward private antitrust litiga-

7. Response of Carolina v. Leasco Response, Inc., 498 F.2d 314 (5th Cir. July, 1974).
8. Saenz v. University Interscholastic League, 487 F.2d 1026 (5th Cir. Nov., 1974).
9. Battle v. Liberty Nat'l Life Ins. Co., 493 F.2d 39 (5th Cir. April, 1974).
10. Redel's, Inc. v. General Electric Co., 498 F.2d 95 (5th Cir. 1974).
11. San Antonio Tel. Co. v. American Tel. & Tel. Co., 499 F.2d 349 (5th Cir. Aug.,

1974).
12. Alterman Foods, Inc. v. FTC, 497 F.2d 993 (5th Cir. July, 1974).
13. Scranton Constr. Co. v. Litton Indus. Leasing Corp., 496 F.2d 1407 (5th Cir. May,

1974).
14. Response of Carolina v. Leasco Response, Inc., 498 F.2d 314 (5th Cir. July, 1974).
15. Terrell v. Household Goods Carriers' Bureau, 494 F.2d 16 (5th Cir. May, 1974).
16. Pollock & Riley, Inc. v. Pearl Brewing Co., 498 F.2d 1240 (5th Cir. Aug., 1974).
17. 494 F.2d 16 (5th Cir. May, 1974).
18. 498 F.2d 1240 (5th Cir. Aug., 1974).
19. Id. at 1242.
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tion. A favorable attitude, indicated by the court in some instances,
is crucial if the private suit is to continue to function as a viable
supplement to the governmental enforcement of the federal anti-
trust laws. Certain decisions, however, exhibit an unfavorable atti-
tude, as indicated by narrow interpretations of the law pertaining
to the private action. Although the court's attitude is the topic of
primary concern in this article, other developments in antitrust law
also have been highlighted.

I. THE SHERMAN ACT

A. Background

The Sherman Act was passed in the late 1800's as a reaction to
the concentration of economic power in the hands of a few produ-
cers.' Trusts had arisen in certain industries, such as the petroleum
refining and tobacco industries, and these trusts effectively con-
trolled prices and production.' Congress, responding to the outcry
of public opinion against the trusts, passed the Sherman Act as a
means of combating the trusts and maintaining a system of free
enterprise based on competition.'

The two primary provisions of the Sherman Act reflect this
abhorrence for concentration of economic control. Section 1 pro-
vides that "Every contract, combination . . ., or conspiracy, in re-
straint of trade or commerce . . . is hereby declared to be ille-
gal. . .. " Under section 1 certain practices have been judged to
have no effect other than an unreasonable restriction of competition
and consequently, have been held to be illegal per se.5 These prac-
tices have been described by Justice Douglas as "banned because
of their actual or potential threat to the central nervous system of
the economy."'

1. E. KINTNER, AN ANTITRUST PRIMER 8 (2d ed. 1973).
2. Id.
3. J. BURNS, A STUDY OF THE ANTITRUST LAWS 6 (1958).
4. Section 1 provides in part:

Every contract, combination in the form of trust or otherwise, or conspiracy, in
restraint of trade or commerce among the several States, or with foreign nations, is
hereby declared to be illegal . ...

15 U.S.C. § 1 (1970).
5. Such practices include price fixing, United States v. Socony-Vacuum Oil Co., 310

U.S. 150 (1940); horizontal division of territory, United States v. Topco Associates, 405 U.S.
596 (1972); tying arrangements, Northern Pacific Ry. v. United States, 356 U.S. 1 (1967);
vertical territorial restrictions, United States v. Arnold, Schwinn & Co., 388 U.S. 365 (1967);
and group boycotts, Klor's, Inc. v. Broadway-Hale Stores, Inc., 359 U.S. 207 (1959).

6. United States v. Socony-Vacuum Oil Co., 310 U.S. 150, 224 n. 59 (1940).
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If the practice complained of is not a recognized per se viola-
tion, the court will examine the proof of restraint of trade in light
of the "rule of reason." 7 The court must examine the practices com-
plained of and determine if they are "unreasonably restrictive of
competitive conditions."8 Only unreasonable restraints will be con-
demned. For a practice to constitute a reasonable restraint of trade,
there must be a legitimate purpose sought to be achieved, and the
restriction must be necessary and ancillary to the method of accom-
plishing the legitimate purpose.'

Section 2 provides that "Every person who shall monopolize, or
attempt to monopolize, or combine or conspire . . . to monopolize
. . . shall be deemed guilty of a misdemeanor. . . ."I' The statute
does not forbid monopoly; it forbids monopolizing or attempts to
monopolize. The result is that monopoly in itself is not illegal, but
the methods used to obtain monopoly or used in the attempt to
obtain monopoly will be scrutinized. Generally, a firm can be said
to be guilty of monopolization in violation of section 2 if it has
monopoly power" in the relevant market and has willfully ob-
tained or maintained that power." No specific intent need be shown
because no one monopolizes unconsciously."

B. Jurisdiction

The Sherman Act grants federal courts exclusive jurisdiction of

7. Standard Oil Co. v. United States, 221 U.S. 1 (1911).
8. Id. at 66.
9. United States v. Addyston Pipe & Steel Co., 85 F. 271, 281 (6th Cir. 1898), aff'd, 175

U.S. 211 (1899).
10. Section 2 provides in part:

Every person who shall monopolize, or attempt to monopolize, or combine or
conspire with any other person or persons, to monopolize any part of the trade or
commerce among the several States, or with foreign nations, shall be deemed guilty
of a misdemeanor ....

15 U.S.C. § 2 (1970).
11. Monopoly power is the power to control prices or exclude competition. United

States v. E.I. du Pont de Nemours & Co., 351 U.S. 377, 391 (1956).
12. The relevant market includes the product market and the geographic market. Fac-

tors used in determining the product market include reasonable interchangeability or cross-
elasticity of demand, and the existence of submarkets, depending upon the characteristics
and uses of the product, unique product facilities, distinct customers, distinct prices, sensitiv-
ity to price changes, and specialized vendors. The geographic market is the market area to
which the individual can practically turn for supplies or products. It is determined by trans-
portation costs, the development of commercial channels, and commercial realities. Case-
Swayne Co. v. Sunkist Growers, Inc., 369 F.2d 449, 455-56 (9th Cir. 1966).

13. United States v. United Shoe Machinery Corp., 110 F. Supp. 295, 343 (D. Mass.
1953), aff'd per curiam, 347 U.S. 421 (1954).

14. United States v. Aluminum Co. of America, 148 F.2d 416, 432 (2d Cir. 1945).
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litigation concerning federal antitrust claims.' 5 One implitation of
this provision for -jurisdiction was made apparent in Response of
Carolina v. Leasco Response, Inc.'8 Leasco sued Carolina in state
court for breach of contract. As a defense, Carolina maintained that
the franchise contract with Leasco was in violation of the antitrust
laws and hence unenforceable. Because the federal courts have ex-
clusive jurisdiction of claims involving the federal antitrust laws,
however, a defense based on the antitrust laws cannot be main-
tained in a state court, for this defense would involve a state court
determination of the validity of the antitrust claim. Consequently,
the individual must seek relief in federal court.'7

Jurisdiction under the Sherman Act also is dependent upon a
showing of the involvement of the business in interstate commerce.8

Although a particular business may be operating strictly on a local
basis, a showing of ultimate effect on interstate markets will be
sufficient." As a general rule, proof of degree of effect is not neces-
sary for jurisdiction to attach."0 Disposition on the basis of lack of
interstate commerce generally is viewed with disfavor; such disfavor
was reflected by the Fifth Circuit in Scranton Construction Co. v.
Litton Industries Leasing Corp."' The plaintiff alleged violations of
the Sherman Act on the part of Litton, who was building a shipyard
in Pascagoula, Mississippi. The district court dismissed for lack of
jurisdiction because of a failure to show involvement in interstate
commerce. Judge Gee, however, noted that the plaintiff's claim of
conspiracy in relation to sales of ready-mix concrete, which was

15. Section 4 provides that "The several district courts of the United States are hereby
invested with jurisdiction to prevent and restrain violations of [this act];. ... 15 U.S.C.
§ 4 (1970).

16. 498 F.2d 314 (5th Cir. July, 1974).
17. In this case, Carolina sought a preliminary injunction to prevent further prosecution

of the suit by Leasco. This procedure involves a showing of the necessary prerequisites to
obtain the preliminary injunction, as set forth in Canal Authority of Florida v. Callaway, 489
F.2d 567 (5th Cir. Feb., 1974). These prerequisites include: a substantial likelihood that the
plaintiff will prevail on the merits; a substantial threat that the plaintiff will suffer irrepara-
ble injury if the injunction is not granted; the threatened injury to the plaintiff must outweigh
the harm that the injunction may do the defendant; and, the granting of the preliminary
injunction must not disserve the public interest. The court found that the granting of the
preliminary injunction was improper because the prosecution in the state court of the plain-
tiff's contract claim would not result in injury to Carolina as a result of a violation of the
antitrust laws. (Emphasis added). Response of Carolina v. Leasco Response, Inc. 498 F.2d
314, 319 (5th Cir. July, 1974).

18. Section 1 reads "commerce among the several states." 15 U.S.C. § 1 (1970).
19. United States v. Women's Sportswear Mfgs. Ass'n, 336 U.S. 460 (1949).
20. Apex Hosiery Co. v. Leader, 310 U.S. 469, 485 (1940).
21. 494 F.2d 778 (5th Cir. May, 1974).

1975]



TEXAS TECH LAW REVIEW [Vol. 6:427

produced and sold within the state, was a sufficient allegation of
interstate commerce because of the connection between the ready-
mix concrete and the construction of the shipyard, a "massive in-
strumentality of interstate commerce.""2 Consequently, the court
found the dismissal for lack of jurisdiction improper.

C. Exemptions

Certain activities" have been excluded from the application of
the antitrust laws. This past term the Fifth Circuit examined two
such exemptions: the exemption for state activity and the exemp-
tion for laws relating to the business of insurance under the
McCarran-Ferguson Act.

The basis for the exemption of state activity from the applica-
tion of the Sherman Act is found in the Supreme Court case of
Parker v. Brown.24 Although the cases subsequent to Parker indicate
the complicated nature of a finding of an exemption from applica-
tion of the Sherman Act, 5 the Fifth Circuit, in Saenz v. University
Interscholastic League,'2  merely cited to Parker and found an ex-
emption. Saenz had sued the University Interscholastic League
(UIL), its director, and another party for allegedly conspiring
against him in violation of section 1 of the Sherman Act. Judge Dyer

22. Id. at 781. As an indication of the difference between the test for interstate com-
merce for the Sherman Act and for the Clayton and Robinson-Patman Acts, under the same
facts, the case was dismissed with respect to the claims under the Clayton Act and the
Robinson-Patman Act for lack of interstate commerce. Id. at 781-82. Additionally, the Su-
preme Court has decided that the interstate commerce requirement for the Clayton and
Robinson-Patman Acts "differs distinctly" from that of the Sherman Act. Gulf Oil Corp. v.
Copp Paving Co., 43 U.S.L.W. 4059 (U.S Dec. 19, 1974).

23. Some of these include certain aspects of regulated industries, labor unions, and
governmental activity. The application of exemptions to certain activities has come under
attack lately. With respect to minimum fee schedules, see Goldfarb v. Virginia State Bar,
497 F.2d 1 (4th Cir. 1974), cert. granted, 43 U.S.L.W. 3246 (U.S. Oct. 29, 1974) (No. 74-40)
(recognizing an exemption for "learned professions") and United States v. Oregon State Bar,
43 U.S.L.W. 2234 (D. Ore. Nov. 24, 1974)(finding the "learned profession" exemption based
on dicta and unpersuasive). With respect to rate setting by the New York Stock Exchange,
there traditionally has been an exemption for government regulation, and this exemption was
reaffirmed in Gordon v. New York Stock Exchange, 43 U.S.L.W. 2025 (2d Cir. June 28, 1974).
A district court recently has decided that the exemption does not provide absolute immunity.
Frederickson v. Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith, 43 U.S.L.W. 2145 (D. Ill. Sept. 9,
1974).

24. 317 U.S. 341 (1943).
25. See, e.g., Goldfarb v. Virginia State Bar, 497 F.2d 1 (4th Cir. 1974), cert. granted,

43 U.S.L.W. 3246 (U.S. Oct. 29, 1974) (No. 74-40); George Whittier, Jr., Inc. v. Paddock Pool
Builders, Inc., 424 F.2d 25 (1st Cir. 1970); Hecht v. Pro-Football, Inc., 444 F.2d 931 (D.C.
Cir. 1971), cert. denied, 404 U.S. 1047 (1972).

26. 487 F.2d 1026 (5th Cir. Nov., 1973).



ANTITRUST

concluded that because the UIL is part of the bureau of the Exten-
sion Division of the University of Texas at Austin, the exemption
for governmental entities applied. Additionally, this exemption was
held to apply to the state director of the UIL.

The decision raises questions for consideration in future cases.
There was an allegation in the Saenz case that a public official was
abusing the powers of his office by conspiring to exclude Saenz as a
competitor in the sliderule market. Should the Parker exemption be
available for use as a shield in such a situation? The court ne-
glected to consider these problems and rendered an opinion consist-
ing largely of conclusions,27 thus setting what could turn out to be a
dangerous precedent. This approach should be contrasted with the
one taken by the Ninth Circuit in New Mexico v. American
Petrofina,"5 in which the court stated that "it is necessary to deter-
mine whether the anticompetitive result actually is a goal of the
state entitled to the state's immunity rather than a private group
masquerading under the banner of 'state action.' "29 The Ninth Cir-
cuit, unlike the Fifth Circuit, recognized the potential for abuse
inherent in the assertion of the state activity exemption and consid-
ered this assertion as the beginning of the inquiry, rather than the
end of it.

Another exemption from application of the antitrust laws exists
with respect to the laws regulating the business of insurance. After
the Supreme Court found that the antitrust laws were applicable to
insurance transactions,3 Congress decided that the public interest
would best be served by state regulation and taxation of the insur-

27. The court considered only the question of whether the UIL was a state agency,
rather than considering whether the UIL was in fact entitled to immunity. The major cases
decided subsequent to the Parker decision indicate that the primary issue is the nature of
the Parker exemption. A mere finding that some arm of the state is involved is merely the
beginning of the inquiry. See cases cited note 25 supra. For instance, one approach would
require a showing that the mandate under which the agency operated indicated a clear
authorization of anticompetitive activity before the exemption would apply. Comment,
Antitrust Immunity: State Action Protection Under Parker v. Brown, 7 U. SAN. FRAN. L. REV.
453, 476 (1973). The Parker exemption has generated controversy because of its ambiguous
nature; an analysis of this nature can be found in the following articles. Comment, Antitrust
Immunity - Reevaluation and Synthesis of Parker v. Brown - Intent, State Action, Causation,
19 WA NE L. REv. 1245 (1973); Comment, Participant Governmental Action Immunity from
the Antitrust Laws: Fact or Fiction?, 50 TEXAs L. REv. 474 (1972); and Comment, Whitten
v. Paddock: The Sherman Act and the "Governmental Action" Immunity Reconsidered, 71
COLUM. L. REv. 140 (1971).

28. 501 F.2d 363 (9th Cir. 1974).
29. Id. at 369.
30. United States v. South-Eastern Underwriters Assn., 322 U.S. 533 (1944).
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ance business.3' Consequently, the McCarran-Ferguson Act, 3 which
effectively exempts the business of insurance from application of the
Sherman Act, was passed. The Fifth Circuit faced the question of
the applicability of this exemption in Battle v. Liberty National
Life Insurance Co.33

Liberty National Life Insurance Company (Liberty) issued sev-
eral types of insurance, and it had been very successful in issuing
burial insurance policies. A substantial majority of those who died
in Alabama were covered by Liberty. Brown-Service Funeral Homes
Company, Inc. (Brown) is a separate corporate entity, although it
is a wholly owned subsidiary of Liberty. Brown contracted with
Liberty to supply the merchandise and services furnished by Lib-
erty's burial insurance policies. Brown maintained contracts with
independent funeral directors to perform the obligations under
Brown's contract with Liberty. The plaintiffs brought suit alleging
violations of sections 1 and 2 of the Sherman Act and section 3 of
the Clayton Act. The district court dismissed the suit, among other
reasons, because of the exemption provided by the McCarran-
Ferguson Act. The plaintiffs appealed.

Judge Ingraham began his analysis of the issue by citing to SEC
v. National Securities, Inc. 4 In that opinion, the Supreme Court
held that the exemption did not apply to insurance companies, but
rather to the laws regulating the business of insurance, with particu-
lar emphasis upon the company-policyholder relationship. 5 Lib-
erty, however, in contracting with an intermediary to acquire mer-
chandise and services necessary to fulfill its obligations under the
contracts, had ventured beyond the business of providing insurance.
In effect, Liberty had entered into the business of providing funeral
services and merchandise. The court concluded that this business
was in fact within the purview of the antitrust laws.

A second issue that concerned an exemption also was raised in
the Battle case. Liberty had entered into a consent decree with the
government in 1954; a consent decree is a settlement between the
government and the defendant incorporated into a judicial order

31. 15 U.S.C. § 1011 (1970).
32. The relevant part of the act provides:

No Act of Congress shall be construed to invalidate, impair or supersede any law
enacted by any State for the purpose of of regulating the business of insurance . ..

unless such Act specifically relates to the business of insurance . . ..

15 U.S.C. § 1012(b) (1970).
33. 493 F.2d 39 (5th Cir. Apr., 1974).
34. 393 U.S. 453 (1969).
35. Id. at 459-60.
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whereby the defendant normally agrees to refrain from certain spe-
cific activities .3 Liberty maintained that because the activity that
the plaintiff complained of was essentially the same as that con-
tained in the consent decree, the decree constituted a bar to the suit.
Judge Ingraham did not agree with the defendant. He relied on
United States v. Borden Co., 37 in which the Supreme Court reasoned
that a private cause of action and a governmental cause of action
are based upon different policy considerations and may be pursued
in disregard of each other. Judge Ingraham concluded that the
public and private causes of action are independent. 3 Thus, the
consent decree constituted no bar to the plaintiff's action.

D. Proof of Conspiracy

Both section 1 and section 2 of the Sherman Act encompass the
element of conspiracy. For the private antitrust plaintiff seeking
relief for damages to his business, proof of conspiracy may be the
most formidable obstacle to recovery. Rarely will there be any con-
crete indications of an agreement between the defendants; the exist-
ence of a conspiracy normally must be inferred from the defendants'
behavior. 0 Consequently, the plaintiff strives to introduce evidence
of the defendants' actions from which the existence of an agreement
between the parties readily can be inferred. Needless to say, insuffi-
ciency of the evidence is commonly the most devastating finding by
the court to the plaintiff's case. Such a finding was made by the
Fifth Circuit in Scott Medical Supply, Inc. v. Bedsole Surgical
Supplies, Inc."

36. P. AREEDA, ANTITRUST ANALYSIS 31 (1967) [hereinafter cited as AREEDA].

37. 347 U.S. 514 (1954).
38. Id. at 518-19. The government is authorized to bring an action in order to protect

the public interest, and the private plaintiff sues to recover damages.
39. The court noted that even though the private plaintiff may have settled his claim,

the government can still obtain an injunction. Similarly, a government suit does not preclude
an action by a private plaintiff. Battle v. Liberty Nat'l Life Ins. Co., 493 F.2d 39, 52 (5th
Cir. Apr., 1974).

40. There occassionally will be concrete evidence of an agreement and its terms in a
letter or other written testimonial, such as in a franchise agreement. Otherwise, however,
conspiracy must be inferred from a course of conduct, as in the famous Interstate Circuit,
Inc. v. United States, 306 U.S. 208 (1939):

. . . It taxes credulity to believe that the several distributors would, in the circum-
stances, have accepted and put into operation with substantial unanimity such far-
reaching changes in their business methods without some understanding that all
were to join, and we reject as beyond the range of probability that it was the result
of mere chance.

306 U.S. at 223 (1939).
41. 488 F.2d 934 (5th Cir. Jan., 1974).
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Scott Medical Supply Company was a hospital supplies dealer
in Mobile, Alabama. Scott was a relatively new and struggling com-
pany, and it consistently operated in the shadow of the established
hospital supplies dealer in the area, Bedsole Surgical Supply. Bed-
sole enjoyed a close working relationship with the Donald Edwards
Company, a representative of manufacturing firms that produce
medical supplies. Scott felt that this relationship was in fact so close
that it constituted a conspiracy to prevent Scott from competing
effectively with Bedsole. Accordingly, Scott brouqht an action alleg-
ing violation of section 1 of the Sherman Act. The trial court ordered
a remittitur after the jury's verdict against the defendants, and
trebled the damages. Bedsole appealed. The Fifth Circuit held that
the evidence was insufficient as a matter of law to support the jury's
verdict and reversed and rewarded for a directed verdict or judg-
ment notwithstanding the verdict.

Scott had based its proof of conspiracy upon three instances of
terminations or refusals to deal by the manufacturers of hospital
supplies. Scott contended that Bedsole had exerted pressure upon
Edwards to secure these terminations or refusals and that Edwards
had complied because it did not want to lose Bedsole's business.

The American Safety Razor Company (ASR) had terminated
Scott's dealership, and Scott maintained that this termination was
a result of the Edwards-Bedsole conspiracy. Prior to 1968 Scott had
marketed sutures produced by the Lukens Company. Although ASR
acquired the Lukens Company in 1968, Scott continued to market
the sutures until 1969. ASR decided to reduce the number of its
suture dealers from 1000 to 600. There was disputed evidence that
an employee of Edwards suggested to ASR executives that Scott's
dealership should be terminated, but that Bedsole's should be
maintained because of Bedsole's cooperation and performance in
selling ASR blades, ASR's main product. ASR subsequently termi-
nated Scott's dealership and retained Bedsole as an ASR dealer.

Judge Dyer concluded that this evidence was not sufficient to
prove a conspiracy in light of what he characterized as "uncontrad-
icted evidence to the contrary. 42 The court decided that ASR's
termination of Scott's dealership was justified by business necess-
ity. ASR's marketing strategy was to reduce the total number of
suture dealers. Scott's sales of sutures had declined from 15,000
dollars in 1968 to 3,000 dollars in 1969. ASR would be inclined to
keep Bedsole because ASR's main product was blades, which Bed-

42. Id. at 936.
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sole had been particularly successful at selling. In view of the sound
business reasons justifying the termination, the court concluded
that there was no substantial evidence of a conspiracy between
Edwards and Bedsole with respect to the ASR termination.

Scott's next charge was that Bedsole had pressured Edwards
into persuading the Pioneer Gloves Company to terminate Scott's
dealership with Pioneer. Scott had submitted the low bid to a hospi-
tal to fill its order for surgical gloves. Scott had then attempted to
work through Edwards to obtain Pioneer gloves, but the efforts had
proved fruitless. Scott then contacted Pioneer directly and was noti-
fied that it had been appointed a Pioneer dealer and that its order
for gloves had been accepted. One month later, after Pioneer termi-
nated Scott's dealership, Bedsole received the hospital's order for
Pioneer gloves.

Judge Dyer again concluded that the termination of the dealer-
ship was justified in light of the evidence. Pioneer's executive in
charge of new dealerships was absent from the home office when the
dealership was granted. It was logical for Pioneer to terminate Scott
once the executive returned; Pioneer was already adequately repre-
sented in the area and the addition of another dealer would cause
"confusion among the buyers."43 Scott also had an unfavorable Dun
& Bradstreet rating. The court emphasized that there was no evi-
dence that any person connected with Bedsole contacted Pioneer or
attempted to influence its decision to terminate Scott. Thus, in the
opinion of the court, Scott's proof did not rise to the level of substan-
tial evidence.

Finally, Scott maintained that Shampaine Surgical Tables' re-
fusal to deal with Scott was evidence of a conspiracy. Shampaine
had refused to fill Scott's order and then had filled the identical
order by Bedsole. Scott alleged that this implied a causal connec-
tion between the refusal and Bedsole's intent to drive its competitor
out of business.

The court again relied upon what it considered to be substantial
evidence to the contrary to justify Shampaine's refusal to deal with
Scott. As was the case with Pioneer, Shampaine was already ade-
quately represented in the area and a new dealership would only
serve to dilute the value of the existing dealerships. Additionally
Scott's poor credit rating would have influenced Shampaine not to

43. It is unclear if this can be used as a business justification. Will the buyers be
confused by the opportunity to buy at a lower price, the opportunity to obtain better service,
or because they would have a choice of suppliers?
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fill Scott's order. The court thus concluded that Shampaine's re-
fusal to deal was not connected to or motivated by a conspiracy to
drive Scott out of business.

The Scott decision indicates the strength of proof that the Fifth
Circuit will consider necessary to infer the existence of a conspiracy
from the actions of the defendants. The court seemed to think that
the disputed facts and suspicious circumstances surrounding Scott's
terminations were insufficient evidence to allow jury consideration.
Perhaps this is the court's response to the tremendous increase in
antitrust litigation by private plaintiffs.

Defendants in future cases should take note of the heavy em-
phasis that the court placed upon the justifications for the termina-
tions and refusals to deal. Apparently the court will be particularly
amenable to explanations based upon commercial expediency, such
as credit rating and avoiding "confusion of customers."

E. Validity of Contract with Illegal Provision

In Response of Carolina v. Leasco Response, Inc.," the Fifth
Circuit was faced with the question of the effect to be given a con-
tract that contained a provision that violated the Sherman Act. The
contract between Carolina, the franchisee, and Leasco, the franchi-
sor, contained a territorial restriction provision in violation of sec-
tion 1 of the Sherman Act. Carolina ceased making the franchise fee
and royalty payments to Leasco. When Leasco brought suit to re-
cover the payments, Carolina contended that the contract was void
and unenforceable. The Fifth Circuit thus was faced with a Hobb-
son's choice of either declaring the contract void and allowing Caro-
lina to get something for nothing, or requiring payment and thereby
sanctioning a contract that violated the antitrust laws.

Judge Tuttle began his discussion of the validity of the contract
by refering to Continental Wallpaper Co. v. Lewis Voight & Sons
Co.15 The Supreme Court stated therein that an agreement which
violates the antitrust laws should not be enforced, for to do so would
be to sanction the very conduct sought to be prohibited." The op-
posing consideration, of course, is that if the agreement is not en-
forced, the buyer can obtain the goods or services under the contract
for nothing. This indeed was the rationale for an exception to the
Continental rule. In Bruce's Juices v. American Can Co.,47 the Su-

44. 498 F.2d 314 (5th Cir. July, 1974).
45. 212 U.S. 227 (1909).
46. Id. at 261.
47. 330 U.S. 743 (1974).
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preme Court decided that Congress did not intend to provide an
additional remedy for violation of the antitrust laws by allowing the
buyer to obtain goods for nothing. The Court concluded that the
antitrust laws provide no defense for actions under state law for the
collection of debts for the sale of goods and services.48

Judge Tuttle wholeheartedly agreed with the Bruce's Juices
rationale and reasoned further that enforcement of the contract
would not necessarily entail enforcement of the provision that alleg-
edly violated the Sherman Act. The court concluded that there
would be no violation of the antitrust laws that could serve as a bar
to a state court action if the state court could grant relief without
depending upon or enforcing the particular nefarious provision.

F. Tying Arrangement

Football fans across the country have reacted to the recent
trend toward requiring the purchase of preseason tickets with regu-
lar season tickets by filing lawsuits against the various football
clubs. Dallas is no exception, and the Fifth Circuit was presented
with an allegation of a tying arrangement in Driskill v. Dallas Cow-
boys Football Club, Inc.4"

The purchase of a season ticket to Dallas Cowboy games gives
the holder the right to preferential seating and parking locations
and the right to reserve a season ticket and a particular seat for the
following season. To purchase a season ticket, however, the pur-
chaser must also buy preseason tickets and low-interest stadium
bonds. Driskill brought an action claiming that this package deal
constituted an illegal tying arrangement in violation of section 1 of
the Sherman Act. In granting summary judgment for the defen-
dants, the district court reasoned that home tickets were available,
and the package deal was a reasonable business practice with no
anticompetitive effect. Driskill appealed, and the Fifth Circuit af-
firmed.

Judge Thornberry began his analysis of the problem by provid-
ing a background discussion of the principles involved. Northern
Pacific Railroad Co. v. United States" defined a tying arrangement
as an agreement by the vendor to sell a particular product only if
the vendee also purchased another product.5 Coniglio v. Highwood

48. Id. at 755.
49. 498 F.2d 321 (5th Cir. Aug., 1974).
50. 356 U.S. 1 (1958).
51. Id. at 5-6.
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Services, Inc. 2 listed the four requirements that must be met for an
illegal tying arrangement to exist. There must be two separate prod-
ucts, the tying product and the tied product. The vendor must
possess sufficient economic power in the tying product to be able to
coerce the purchase of the tied product. There must be a "not insub-
stantial" amount of interstate commerce in the tied market, and
there must be an anticompetitive effect on the tied market.53

Judge Thornberry first concluded that there was no anticompe-
titive effect in the tied market with respect to the preseason-season
ticket package. The Cowboys had a complete monopoly in the tied
market-preseason football games in Dallas-and there thus could
be no anticompetitive effect because there were no competitors.
Summary judgment thus was proper for this aspect of the com-
plaint.

With respect to the low-interest bonds-season tickets package,
the court concluded that Driskill had failed in two respects. First,
he neglected to show use of the Cowboys' monopoly to coerce the
purchase of the bonds. Additionally, there was no showing of an
anticompetitive effect in the tied market for long-term bonds. Con-
sequently, summary judgment was proper.

The Driskill decision provides a clear delineation of the ele-
ments of a tying arrangement that the Fifth Circuit will expect to
have presented in this type of case. Notice should also be taken of
the fact that the court will expect a specific showing of each element
of the alleged violation, no matter how obvious the existence of a
particular element may appear.

G. Section 2 of the Sherman Act

The primary case concerning section 2 before the Fifth Circuit
this past term concerned the sufficiency of the pleadings necessary
to withstand a motion to dismiss. The case presents a lucid discus-
sion of the elements necessary for a violation of section 2, and it also
exhibits an enlightened attitude on the part of the court toward the
plaintiff's day in court and the propriety of the private antitrust
cause of action.

In Battle v. Liberty National Life Insurance Co.,54 the plaintiffs
alleged, among other things, that the defendants conspired to at-
tempt to monopolize a part of the trade of furnishing funeral serv-

52. 495 F.2d 1286 (2d Cir. 1974).
53. Id. at 1289.
54. 498 F.2d 39 (5th Cir. Apr., 1974).
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ices and selling funeral supplies in violation of section 2 of the Sher-
man Act. The district court granted the defendants' motion for
failure to state a claim upon which relief could be granted. The
plaintiffs appealed.

Judge Ingraham noted that according to United States v. Grin-
nell Corp.," violation of section 2 requires both the possession of
monopoly power in the relevant market and a willful acquisition or
maintenance of that power.5" He then determined that there had
been sufficient establishment of the defendants' possession of mo-
nopoly power to withstand a motion to dismiss. Monopoly power is
the power to raise prices or exclude competition. 7 Not only did
Brown maintain contracts with 192 of the 224 funeral homes in
Alabama, but the policyholders were inclined to use the authorized
homes rather than the unauthorized homes because of the addi-
tional benefits to be derived. Upon death an "authorized" home
(one that had contracted with Brown) provided pursuant to the
policy a casket, burial clothing, embalming, use of the funeral par-
lor, transportation to the church or cemetery, or rail transportation
to any place within the United States. On the other hand, if the
deceased were taken to an "unauthorized" home (one that had not
contracted with Brown), the policy provided only for a casket or a
cash settlement. The defendants could exclude competition and
thus possessed monopoly power.

Judge Ingraham next recognized that because nearly all of the
defendants' policies were sold in Alabama, the complaint suffi-
ciently alleged that the relevant market was generally the bounda-
ries of the state of Alabama.

Additionally, the complaint sufficiently alleged that the mo-
nopoly power was gained and maintained willfully. Each contract
between Brown and an independent home prohibited the home from
selling any other type of funeral insurance. The plaintiffs also
charged-that Brown had threatened to build an authorized home in
the area of those dealers who terminated the contract. Thus, Judge
Ingraham concluded that the pleadings with respect to a violation
of section 2 of the Sherman Act were sufficient to withstand a mo-
tion to dismiss for failure to state a claim upon which relief could
be granted.

55. 384 U.S. 563 (1966).
56. Id. at 570-71.
57. United States v. E.I. du Pont de Nemours & Co., 351 U.S. 377, 391 (1956).
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H. THE CLAYTON ACT

A. Background

The cases before the Fifth Circuit that involved the Clayton Act
were concerned with section 4.55 Section 4 gives private plaintiffs the
right to bring an action in federal court for damages resulting to
them from violation of the antitrust laws. Section 4 also provides for
treble damages.

The treble damages provision has been subjected to both praise
and severe criticism. The possibility of treble damages serves as an
incentive to the private plaintiff to bring an action alleging violation
of the antitrust laws; in this way, it acts as a supplement to govern-
mental enforcement.59 The would-be offenders supposedly are de-
terred from violation because of fear of the adverse financial conse-
quences" and adverse publicity61 resulting from the private suit for
damages under section 4. On the other hand, section 4 has been
criticized for several reasons. It may be used by the private plaintiff
as a tool of harassment;62 the extensive media coverage given a large
suit provides an example of this possibility. Additionally, Pollack's
"bounty hunter" criticism 3 has validity in certain cases, as does the
quadruple recovery criticism. 4 Spurious suits, however, should not
be much of a problem considering the financial 5 and the proce-

58. Section 4 of the Clayton Act provides:
Any person who shall be injured in his business or property by reason of anything

forbidden in the antitrust laws may sue therefor in any district court of the United
States in the district in which the defendant resides or is found or has an agent,
without respect to the amount in controversy, and shall recover threefold the dam-
ages by him sustained, and the cost of the suit, including a reasonable attorney's
fee.

15 U.S.C. § 15 (1970).
59. See, e.g., Zenith Radio Corp. v. Hazeltine Research, Inc., 395 U.S. 100, (1969);

AREEDA, supra note 36, at 36.
60. The direct cost of defending the suit can be substantial, but the indirect costs also

must be considered: adverse effect on earnings, decline in the desirability of the company's
stock, and the possible inability to obtain financing. Kane, The "Bounty Hunter" Objection
to Antitrust Litigation, 9 DUQUESNE L. REv. 466 (1971).

61. Publicity about such a suit is invariably adverse because, regardless of the outcome,
the fact that the defendant is being sued implies a violation of the antitrust laws in the mind
of the public.

62. AREEDA, supra note 36, at 36.
63. Pollack, Standing to Sue, Remoteness of Injury, and the Passing-on Doctrine, 32

ANTITRUST L.J. 5, 38 (1966).
64. Quadruple recovery refers to situations in which the plaintiffs injury is the result

of an overcharge. The plaintiff recovers once from the passing on of the overcharge to its
customers, and then three times the amount of injury from the defendants. Id.

65. The financial burden results from the heavy pre-trial expenses and the inordinate
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dural 5 burden that the plaintiff must shoulder to prove his claim.
There are three primary elements of a private cause of action.

The plaintiff must show a violation of the antitrust laws. The plain-
tiff must have suffered injury as a proximate cause of the defen-
dant's violation of the antitrust laws. The plaintiff must introduce
evidence of damages sufficient to allow the trier of fact to make a
reasonable estimate of their amount. 67

Actions brought under section 4 of the Clayton Act necessarily
involve some other sections of the antitrust laws. 8 Consequently,
there usually is not a "pure" section 4 case. The Fifth Circuit,
however, has dealt with cases concerning only section 4 this past
term, and a prime example is one concerning the validity of an
instruction concerning the treble damages provision.

B. Propriety of Treble Damages Jury Instruction

Pollock & Riley, Inc. v. Pearl Brewing Co."5 was actually two
consolidated interlocutory appeals that both dealt with the issue of
the propriety of instructing the jury that under section 4 of the
Clayton Act, any damages awarded to the plaintiff would be tripled.
In Pollock the plaintiff filed a motion in limine requesting that the
district court instruct the defendant and all of the defense witnesses
to refrain from mentioning in the jury's presence the treble damages
and attorneys' fee provision of the Clayton Act. The district court
granted the motion, and the defendant appealed under section
1292(b).

In Wood v. Gulf Oil Corp.,70 a similar motion was filed, but was
denied; the court ruled that the jury should be instructed of the
treble damages provision. The plaintiff appealed under section
1292(b). Both appeals were consolidated.

Judge Tuttle structured his discussion of the issue around three
primary points, the first being the reasons the jury should not be
given such an instruction. There is fear that if a jury knew that the
damages were going to be tripled, it would adjust the damages

length of most antitrust suits. Kane, The "Bounty Hunter" Objection to Antitrust Litigation,
9 DUQUESNE L. REv. 466 (1971).

66. Id. at 483-86.
67. See, e.g., Zenith Radio Corp. v. Hazeltine Research, Inc., 395 U.S. 100, (1969);

AREEDA, supra note 36, at 38.
68. Section 4 of the Clayton Act authorizes a private suit for damages sustained by

violation of the antitrust laws. 15 U.S.C. § 15 (1970). Consequently, a violation of another
section must be alleged.

69. 498 F.2d 1240 (5th Cir. Aug., 1974).
70. Id.
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downward because of a mistaken notion of windfall to the plaintiff;
or the jury could misinterpret this instruction and conclude that it
was given as an indication that the damages should be restricted.
The court concluded that the instruction would serve no useful func-
tion and could possibly result in an improper lowering of the amount
of damages.

Judge Tuttle then determined that the nature of the jury's
function precluded its consideration of the treble damages provi-
sion; that function is to compute the amount of damages. On the
other hand, the treble damages provision is a matter of law to be
applied by the court without interference from the jury. The fact
that the damages will be tripled has nothing to do with the jury's
determination of the extent of the injury suffered by the plaintiff as
a result of the antitrust violation.

Finally, the court acknowledged the main argument in favor of
giving the instruction; most jurors, it is contended, have some
knowledge of the treble damages provision because of the great pub-
licity given it, and this knowledge will result in harm absent a
curative instruction from the bench. This argument was not persu-
asive to the court because it concluded that the trial court could
instruct the jury to determine the actual damages and refrain from
mentioning the treble damages provision. The court also indicated
that an accidental revelation would be grounds for a curative in-
struction from the bench.7'

The Fifth Circuit thus has resolved the conflict between the
district courts respecting the jury instruction on the treble damages
provision. In deciding against this instruction, the court has aligned
itself with the Tenth Circuit;72 the Second Circuit, however, does
allow the jury to be informed of the treble damages provision.7 3 This
split between the circuits indicates the complexity of the problem,
one that will continue to plague the courts and provide the commen-
tators with fertile ground for critical analysis.

C. Damages

The question of damages in a private antitrust suit poses a

71. Such a situation in fact occurred in Standard Indus., Inc. v. Mobil Oil Corp., 475
F.2d 220 (10th Cir. 1973). Because of pre-trial publicity, previous discussions about treble
damages, and counsel's remark to the jury, an instruction not to treble and to ignore the treble
damages provision was proper. Id. at 223.

72. Semke v. Enid Auto. Dealers Ass'n, 456 F.2d 1361 (10th Cir. 1972).
73. Bordanaro Bros. Theaters, Inc. v. Paramount Pictures, Inc., 203 F.2d 676 (2d Cir.

1953).
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considerable obstacle for the private plaintiff. The plaintiff not only
must show that he has sustained a direct injury as a result of the
defendant's activities, but he must also introduce evidence to dem-
onstrate the amount of his damages." The fact of injury and the
amount of injury are two distinct concepts with different burdens
of proof: "There is a clear distinction between the measure of proof
necessary to establish the fact that petitioner has sustained some
damage and the measure of proof necessary to enable the jury to fix
the amount."75 Terrell v. Household Goods Carriers' Bureau" pro-
vides an indication of what the Fifth Circuit will consider to be the
proper measure of damages, and it also contains a judicial approval
of a method of proof of damages.

Household contended that the proper measure of damages
should have been the going concern value of Terrell's business
rather than a measure based upon lost profits. Terrell's business had
never been profitable, and Household asserted that the going con-
cern value thus was zero. Judge Goldberg disposed of this measure
of damages:

To deny recovery to a businessman who has struggled to establish
a business in the face of wrongful conduct by a competitor simply
because he never managed to escape from the quicksand of red ink
to the dry land of profitable enterprise would make a mockery of
the private antitrust remedy.77

Additionally, the court did not allow the spectre of uncertainty
inherent in a measure of damages based upon a calculation of lost
profits to deter its decision. This uncertainty, the court reasoned,
would properly hamper the wrongdoer rather than the party seeking
redress for his injuries.7"

Household also contended that the evidence introduced by Ter-
rell to establish the measure of lost profits was too speculative and
should not have been admitted. Terrell's proof of lost profits cen-
tered around the testimony of Walter Bowles, an expert in market-
ing and public opinion research. Bowles conducted a market study
that estimated the size of the market. He then made a series of
conclusions concerning Terrell's ability to penetrate the market and
the resultant business that could have been expected. A certified

74. AREEDA, supra note 36, at 37-38.
75. Story Parchment Co. v. Paterson Parchment Paper Co., 282 U.S. 555, 562 (1931).
76. 494 F.2d 16 (5th Cir. May, 1974).
77. Id. at 23 n. 12.
78. Id. Bigelow v. RKO Radio Pictures, Inc., 327 U.S. 251, 265 (1946).
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public accountant, basing his conclusions upon actual known ex-
pense figures and actual and projected sales figures compiled by
Bowles, then testified as to the amount of projected profits. The
court was amenable to this method of proof of damages; it stated
that evidence relating to damages would be sufficient if the extent
of the damages could be inferred from the evidence without mere
speculation or guess. Estimates may be based on assumptions that
rest on adequate bases. Accordingly, the court concluded that
Bowles based his estimates partially upon disputed facts, the find-
ing of which could be made in Terrell's favor and would support
Bowle's assumptions that provided a base for his evidence. Undue
emphasis would not be given to this type of testimony by the jury,
the court reasoned, because the defendant has the opportunity to
cross-examine, and the trial court can instruct the jury as to the
weight to be given the expert testimony.

The Fifth Circuit thus has indicated clearly that the going con-
cern value of the business will not necessarily be the measure of
damages in an antitrust suit if this measure would prove inequitable
for the defendant. Effective enforcement of the antitrust laws de-
pends partially upon private suits for damages. There must be a
measure of damages that will make the suit worthwhile for the
private plaintiff, but not inequitable for the defendant. A measure
of damages based upon lost profits fulfills this need in certain situa-
tions.7" With respect to the method of proof of damages, the court
has approved the use of experts, and the usefulness of the marketing
expert and the certified public accountant should not be overlooked.

D. Venue

The plaintiff brought a private antitrust action against several
major telephone companies and 22 of the operating companies con-
nected with American Telephone & Telegraph (AT&T).' The dis-
trict court in the Western District of Texas dismissed the complaint
with respect to the 22 operating companies because of improper
venue. The plaintiffs appealed.

The appellant maintained that venue was proper within section

79. The Fifth Circuit, in Wood v. Gulf Oil Corp., 498 F.2d 1240 (5th Cir. Aug., 1974),
reaffirmed that a plaintiff cannot recover both the difference between the fair market value
and the price received at the time of sale, and the loss of future profits. Albrecht v. Herald
Co., 452 F.2d 124 (8th Cir. 1971), mandamus denied, 405 U.S. 1063 (1972).

80. San Antonio Tel. Co. v. American Tel. & Tel. Co., 499 F.2d 349 (5th Cir. Aug.,
1974).
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121 of the Clayton Act because the 22 companies transacted busi-
ness within the Western District. Although the companies main-
tained no facilities or personnel in Texas, the appellant contended
that the interconnection of the communications network and the
division of long distance communications revenues among the com-
panies constituted the transaction of business within the district.

Venue over corporations is provided in section 12 of the Clayton
Act, which states that a private action can be brought "in any
district wherein [the corporation] may be found or transacts busi-
ness. .. ."82 The Fifth Circuit cited Eastman Kodak Co. v. South-
ern Photo Materials Co.83 for the proposition that the phrase "trans-
acts business" means conducting business in the "ordinary and
usual sense.""s The court then concluded that the interconnection
of the network and the division of revenue was too tenuous a connec-
tion with the Western District to constitute conducting business in
the ordinary and usual sense. The court reached the same conclu-
sion with respect to the use of a national advertising campaign as
the base for the establishment of venue. Consequently, the dis-
missal of the suit was affirmed with respect to the 22 companies.

The opinion of the court indicates the manner in which section
12 is normally interpreted. Primarily, the interpretation of the
phrase "transacts business" will be a matter for the court's discre-
tion. The phrase is not to be interpreted technically," and certain
indicia will be used to aid in the determination: volume of sales
within the district,"8 the nature of the business, and the number of
contacts within the district." Obviously, the phrase is not capable
of prescise definition, and the court will determine venue on a case-
by-case basis.

81. Section 12 provides:
Any suit, action, or proceeding under the antitrust laws against a corporation

may be brought not only in the judicial district whereof it is an inhabitant, but also
in any district wherein it may be found or transacts business; and all process in
such cases may be served in the district of which it is an inhabitant, or wherever it
may be found.

15 U.S.C. § 22 (1970).
82. Id.
83. 273 U.S. 359 (1927).
84. Id.
85. Hoffmann Motors Corp. v. Alfa Romeo S.p.A., 244 F. Supp. 70 (S.D.N.Y. 1965).
86. Commonwealth Edison Co. v. Federal Pac. Elec. Co., 208 F. Supp. 936 (N.D. Ill.

1962).
87. B.J. Semel Ass'n., v. United Fireworks Mfg. Co., 355 F.2d 827 (D.C. Cir. 1965).
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E. Validity of Contractual Release Provisions

In Redel's, Inc. v. General Electric Co.,"8 the Fifth Circuit was
faced with the question of the validity of a contractual provision
that released one party from any liability for violations of the anti-
trust laws.

Redel's was a franchised dealer of General Electric (G.E.) for
many years under a franchise agreement that was renewed an-
nually. In 1969 the companies entered into a perpetual franchise
agreement that could be modified by yearly addenda as necessary.
A termination clause also was included. As consideration to G.E.
for execution of the agreement, a release provision was included.
Redel's released G.E. from all "claims, demands, contracts, and
liabilities as of the date of the execution of this agreement... .""
In 1971 an annual addendum was executed that pertained to the
minimum sales requirement and not referring to the general re-
lease provision. In 1972 Redel's filed an antitrust action against
G.E. G.E. contended that the addendum executed in 1971 incor-
porated the 1969 agreement and its general release and thus pre-
vented the plaintiff from litigating claims existing prior to 1971.
The district court granted partial summary judgment and Redel's
appealed.

The Fifth Circuit was faced not only with the application of the
wording of the particular release provision, but also, more impor-
tantly, with the validity of a release provision in light of the public
policy of the antitrust laws. As for the particular application the
court held that the intent of the parties governed a release agree-
ment and that the language of the release provision did not indicate
that it was to apply prospectively. The addendum did not affect a
release because nothing in the addendum indicated that it should
do so.

The court additionally held that the 1969 provision could not
act as a prospective release, releasing future violations, because a
prospective release would violate public policy. Although the right
to prosecute private antitrust actions is a private right, it was con-
ferred by federal statute to further the public interest of prevention
of violation of the antitrust laws. This private cause of action
granted by section 4 of the Clayton Act is intended, at least in part,
to serve as a deterrent to possible antitrust law violators. Such a

88. 498 F.&2d 95 (5th Cir. July, 1974).
89. Id. at 97.
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right cannot be released in contravention of legislative policy. Fur-
ther, a future release provision contractually could protect a re-
straint of trade, thereby detrimentally affecting the public interest.
The agreement itself thus would be a contract in restraint of trade
that is forbidden by the Sherman Act. The court therefore con-
cluded that the release barred no claims arising after the date of its
execution.

The court did conclude, however, that the general release did
bar claims existing prior to the time of the execution of the agree-
ment. The language in the provision to that effect was unambi-
guous. Even so, the court did recognize that violations of public
policy could occur through the use of such an agreement. The use
of private enforcement as a vital element in the federal regulatory
scheme, reasoned the court, must be balanced against the policy of
encouragement of amicable settlement and release of antitrust
claims by the parties themselves. The court emphasized that it did
not condone the use of a general release provision by a party with
superior economic power. Also, a party who is unaware that he has
an antitrust claim may be the subject of unfair dealing. In effect,
the problem of the agreement itself violating the Sherman Act once
again looms large on the horizon.

The Fifth Circuit has given a clear cut indication of its attitude
toward release provisions. Although the court has given grudging
approval to provisions releasing past antitrust claims, certain steps
need to be taken by the draftsman of such a provision to indicate
compliance with the court's mandates.

III. THE FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION ACT AND THE ROBINSON-PATMAN

ACT

A. Background

The only decision rendered by the Fifth Circuit concerning the
Federal Trade Commission Act (FTC Act) involved section 590 of the

90. Section 5 provides, in part, that "Unfair methods of competition in commerce, and
unfair or deceptive acts or practices in commerce, are declared unlawful." 15 U.S.C. § 45(a)
(1) (1970). As can be seen, the prohibitions are vague; there is no specific articulation of what
constitutes unfair methods of competition or unfair acts. The ostensible reason for this
breadth is because Congress did not want to pass a statute so narrowly drawn that the alleged
offenders could easily circumvent it, especially when the statute was intended to back up the
other antitrust laws. As stated by the Supreme Court in FTC v. Beech-Nut Packing Co., 257
U.S. 441 (1922):

. . . Congress deemed it better to leave the subject without precise definition, and
to have each case determined upon its own facts, owing to the multifarious means

44919751
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Act. Section 5 prohibits "unfair methods of competition."', Unfair
methods of competition include practices that would constitute a
violation of other provisions of the antitrust laws,9" practices that
could develop into violations of the antitrust laws if allowed to con-
tinue unchecked, 3 and those practices that violate the policy or
spirit of the antitrust laws without being actual violations of a par-
ticular provision. 4 Thus, section 5 is utilized by the Federal Trade
Commission (FTC) as a catch-all provision to enhance its policing
power and to prevent fringe violations of the antitrust laws.

The Robinson-Patman Act, which amended the Clayton Act,
was passed to fill the gaps that existed in the Clayton Act. 5 The
Clayton Act had been concerned with the level of competition
among sellers; the Robinson-Patman Act was directed at price dis-
crimination among the large institutional buyers who were wielding
purchasing power to the detriment of the smaller sellers.9" Section
2 of the Clayton Act, as amended by the Robinson-Patman Act, is
divided into six sections. The case before the Fifth Circuit dealt
with sections 2(d) and 2(e).

B. Alterman Foods, Inc. v. FTC97

Alterman Foods, Inc. (Alterman) was a combination wholesaler
and retailer of groceries and household products. It retailed from
approximately 70 stores that it operated directly or through wholly-
owned subsidiaries. It wholesaled exclusively to A.B.C. Food Stores,
(a voluntary cooperative made up of about 375 independents),
which was under contract to purchase from Alterman. Alterman
had held an annual food show since 1956 at which Alterman's sup-
pliers were required to rent a booth in which to display their prod-
ucts, at a cost of 350 to 375 dollars. Additionally, the suppliers were

by which it is sought to effectuate such schemes.
Id at 453.

91. 15 U.S.C. § 45(a)(1) (1970).
92. TRADE REG. REP. § 805.
93. FTC v. Cement Institute, 333 U.S. 683, 708 (1948).
94. Fashion Originators' Guild of America, Inc. v. FTC, 312 U.S. 457, 463-64 (1941).
95. W. PATMAN, COMPLETE GUIDE TO THE ROBINSON-PATMAN AcT 8 (1963) [hereinafter

cited as PATMAN]. The problem of the ineffectiveness of section 2 of the Clayton Act arose
because price discrimination made "in good faith to meet competition" prevented operation
of section 2. The FTC concluded that this good faith provision was virtually nullifying the
anti-price discrimination provisions of the Act. Id. at 7, citing to THE FEDERAL TRADE COMMIs-
SION FINAL REPORT ON THE CHAIN STORE INVESTIGATION, S. Doc. No. 4, 74th Cong., 1st Sess.
90 (1934),

96. PATMAN, supra note 95, at 8.
97. 497 F.2d 993 (5th Cir. July, 1974).
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expected to staff the booth. The show was open to the employees of
Alterman's retail outlet and their families and friends, independent
A.B.C. owners and their families and friends, and customers of the
institutional division. The general public was not invited to attend.
The FTC brought an action alleging violation of section 5 of the FTC
Act. The FTC found that the suppliers' participation in the show
constituted promotional allowances and services to Alterman that
were not provided on a proportionally equal basis to the suppliers'
other customers. The suppliers thus violated sections 2(d)98 and
2(e)99 of the Clayton Act as amended by the Robinson-Patman Act.
The FTC concluded that Alterman had violated section 5 of the
FTC Act because it knowingly had induced and received the dis-
criminatory allowances and services. Consequently, the FTC issued
a cease and desist order. Alterman appealed in an attempt to have
the order set aside or modified.

The court began its consideration of the case by reviewing the
various provisions concerned with the alleged antitrust violations.
Section 2(d) makes it unlawful for a supplier to pay allowances for
advertising or other sales promotion services or facilities provided
by one customer who resells the supplier's products, unless the al-
lowances are "available on proportionally equal terms to all other
customers competing in the distribution of such products."' Sec-
tion 2(e) prohibits a seller from favoring any purchaser with promo-
tional services and facilities "not accorded to all purchasers on pro-
portionally equal terms."'' The courts have accepted the use of

98. Section 2(d) provides:
It shall be unlawful for any person engaged in commerce to pay or contract for

the payment of anything of value to or for the benefit of a customer of such person
in the course of such commerce as compensation or in consideration for any services
or facilities furnished by or through such customer in connection with the process-
ing, handling, sale, or offering for sale of any products or commodities manufac-
tured, sold, or offered for sale by such person, unless such payment or consideration
is available on proportionally equal terms to all other customers competing in the
distribution of such products or commodities.

15 U.S.C. § 13(d) (1970).
99. Section 2(e) provides:

It shall be unlawful for any person to discriminate in favor of one purchaser
against another purchaser or purchasers of a commodity bought for resale, with or
without processing by contracting to furnish or furnishing, or by contributing to the
furnishing of, any services or facilities connected with the processing, handling,
sale, or offering for sale of such commodity so purchased upon terms not accorded
to all purchasers on proportionally equal terms.

15 U.S.C. § 13(e) (1970).
100. 15 U.S.C. § 13(d) (1970).
101. 15 U.S.C. § 13(e) (1970).
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section 5 of the FTC Act to reach buyer conduct not directly pro-
scribed by the prohibitions on sellers contained in sections 2(d) and
2(e) of the Robinson-Patman Act, as held in FTC v. Fred Meyer,
Inc. 102 There are four elements of a violation of section 5 resulting
from inducement of discriminatory payments or services. The res-
pondent must have knowingly solicited or induced and received
from a supplier promotional allowances, services, or facilities. The
solicited promotional considerations must have been received in
connection with the resale of the supplier's product. The respondent
must have had competitors at the same functional level. Finally, the
respondent must have known or should have known that its compet-
itors were not offered the promotional considerations in question on
proportionally equal terms. 103

Alterman contended that there was no violation at the retail
level, because the food shows were wholesale promotions and, as
such, were not "in connection with" the resale of the supplier's
products to retail customers. The court determined that the record
did not support this conclusion. The buyers or the retail division
invited some of the suppliers. A retail manager can acquire informa-
tion on new products, sales promotion, and store build-up by at-
tending the shows. The relationship between the supplier and re-
tailer is strengthened by these shows. In short, the shows definitely
had a connection with Alterman's retail sales of participating sup-
pliers' products. Additionally, the profits on the booth rentals ac-
tually constituted reductions in the prices of the suppliers' products'
Consequently, the court rejected Alterman's first contention.

Alterman next maintained that there had been no violation of
the FTC Act at the wholesale level because no customers of the
suppliers competed with Alterman, except one, to whom any viola-
tion was de minimis. The record indicated, however, that Asso-
ciated Grocers competed with Alterman to some degree for the busi-
ness of existing and new retail outlets, and the two firms were the
only ones in the area to offer retailers a full line of grocery supplies.
The court found this to be a persuasive rebuttal of Alterman's sec-
ond point of contention. The court reasoned further that even if
there had been no competition, solicitation of such allowances and
services is illegal per se, according to R.H. Macy & Co. v. FTC. 04

102. 390 U.S. 341 (1968).
103. FTC v. J. Weingarten, Inc., 366 F.2d 687, 693 n. 16 (5th Cir. 1964), cert. denied,

380 U.S. 908 (1965).
104. 326 F.2d 445, 450 (2d Cir. 1964).
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ANTITRUST

The cease and desist order was proper in this instance because the
FTC has the authority to nip potentially destructive practices in the
bud. The Fifth Circuit, therefore, once again rejected Alterman's
argument.

Alterman finally argued that the promotional considerations
complied with the test for proportional equality, because the booth
rental was a small percentage of the amount of the suppliers' sales
to Alterman and the suppliers received promotional exposure for the
amounts that they paid. The court was not misled by this argument
and accurately concluded that the argument had nothing to do with
the "proportional equality" standard of section 2(d). This standard
requires promotional considerations to be extended on a propor-
tional basis to all customers if they are extended to one customer.
Additionally, the supplier must take affirmative action to inform
the customers of the availability of the promotional considerations.
The court then once again relied on the record, which indicated that
the suppliers did not extend similar promotional considerations to
the other customers. Alterman's final argument thus was refuted.

The Alterman decision provides an example of the utility of
section 5. The FTC can reach activities that are not violations of
specific antitrust provisions and those that are considered to be
potential violations. The Fifth Circuit apparently will condone this
use of section 5 by the FTC.

IV. CONCLUSION

The fact that the Alterman decision was an action brought by
the FTC helps to emphasize an important characteristic of the cases
decided by the Fifth Circuit this past term. The private cause of
action under section 4 of the Clayton Act provided the means for
bringing practically every antitrust action before the Fifth Circuit.
This indicates that the Justice Department is not engaged in any
extensive activity in this section of the country, but, more impor-
tantly, it signals the arrival of the private cause of action, both as a
meaningful, supplemental method of enforcement of the antitrust
laws and as a viable method for redress of business injury.

The court will be placed in a difficult position in view of this
prominence of private antitrust litigation. It must attempt to guard
against spurious claims that are brought in an attempt to ride the
crest of the wave of private antitrust litigation; yet the court must
not be overly harsh when rendering decisions concerning the private
suits, for to do so would be to cripple an important means of enforce-
ment of the antitrust laws. Such an attitude by the court not only
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would prevent rightful recovery for damages brought about by anti-
trust violations, but also would be injurious to the general public
interest.

Generally speaking, the Battle case exhibits an enlightened at-
titude toward private litigation, and the Scott case represents a
harsh approach that will prevent successful prosecution of all but
the most blatant violations. The court hopefully will attempt to
move toward the approach represented in Battle, for, in so doing,
the evils sought to be prevented by the passage of the antitrust laws
can more readily be prevented by the private plaintiff.

E. Link Beck


